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The Company continued to achieve strong growth in revenues

and operating income during fiscal 2002, although income

was adversely affected by an unusual charge related to the

upcoming relocation of the Company’s headquarters to

Hoboken, New Jersey, as more fully described below.

During fiscal 2002, the Company acquired several publishing

properties for purchase prices aggregating $232.4 million

net of cash acquired, including the acquisition of Hungry

Minds, Inc. (Hungry Minds), on September 21, 2001, for

approximately $184.9 million, the largest acquisition in the

Company’s history. Hungry Minds is a leading publisher with

an outstanding collection of respected brands. The Company

also acquired 47 higher education titles from Thomson

Learning; A&M Publishing Ltd., a U.K.-based publisher for the

pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors; GIT Verlag GmbH, a

German publisher for the chemical, pharmaceutical, biotech-

nology, security, and engineering industries; and Frank J.

Fabozzi Publishing and an Australian publisher, Wrightbooks

Pty Ltd., both publishing high-quality finance books for the

professional market.

Hungry Minds’ performance has been better than expected,

and the integration of operations has proceeded smoothly.

By fiscal year-end, the Company increased the distribution of

Hungry Minds’ products, especially through online channels.

Hungry Minds contributed $91 million to revenues in fiscal

2002 and was accretive to earnings.

The unusual charge related to the relocation of the Company’s

headquarters amounted to approximately $12.3 million, 

or $7.7 million after taxes, equal to $0.12 per diluted share.

This charge consisted of lease payments of approximately

$10.2 million representing amounts due from the move date

through April 2003, the lease termination date, on the

Company’s vacated offices in New York and the accelerated

depreciation of leasehold improvements and certain furniture

and fixtures and equipment of approximately $2.1 million

based on revised estimates of useful lives. The Company

expects to incur additional pretax charges of approximately

$2.5 million in the first quarter of 2003, primarily duplicate 

rent through the move date and moving costs. The relocation

will provide a more collaborative and efficient work environ-

ment, relieve overcrowding in the current facility, and meet

the Company’s growth needs.

Pro forma results of operations for fiscal 2002 excluding the

unusual charge were as follows:

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2002 2001

Operating income as reported $ 87.8 $ 95.4

Unusual relocation charge 12.3 —

Operating income before unusual charge $100.1 $ 95.4

Net income as reported $ 57.3 $ 58.9

Unusual relocation charge, net of taxes 7.7 —

Net income before unusual charge $ 65.0 $ 58.9

Income per diluted share as reported $ .91 $ .93

Unusual relocation charge, net of taxes .12 —

Income per diluted share
before unusual charge $ 1.03 $ .93

Revenues increased 20% to $734.4 million from $613.8 million

in fiscal 2001. Excluding Hungry Minds’ contribution, revenues

increased 5% despite the market disruption following the

tragic events of September 11th.

All of the Company’s U.S.-based businesses contributed to

the revenue growth. European segment revenues increased,

driven primarily by STM journals and higher education pro-

grams. Wiley Canada and Australia enjoyed gains, while the

Company’s business in Asia was adversely affected by the

weak economy.

Before the unusual charge, fiscal 2002 operating income

advanced 5% to $100.1 million. Operating margin before the

unusual charge declined to 13.6% in fiscal 2002 from 15.5%

in fiscal 2001, reflecting the combined effect of the $5 million

write-off of two small investments, the Hungry Minds

acquisition, and the addition of several society journals, which

typically have lower margins than other journals. Excluding

the investment write-offs and the unusual charge, the

operating margin was 14.3% and the operating margin before

amortization of intangibles (EBITA) was 16.7% in fiscal 2002.

Excluding the unusual charge, fiscal 2002 net income of

$65.0 million and income per diluted share of $1.03 advanced

10% and 11%, respectively, over fiscal 2001. Including the

unusual charge, fiscal 2002 net income was $57.3 million, or

$0.91 per diluted share.
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In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, based on current market

conditions and an assessment of estimated realizable values,

the Company wrote off two small investments in an environ-

mental remediation portal and database and an informatics

company. The resulting charge was $5 million, or $2.9 million

after taxes, equal to $0.05 per diluted share.

Cost of sales as a percentage of revenues increased to 33.1%

in fiscal 2002 from 32.5% in fiscal 2001 due primarily to the

inclusion of Hungry Minds, which has lower gross margins

than the Company’s other businesses due to lower price points.

Operating and administrative expenses as a percentage of

revenues was 50.9% in fiscal 2002, compared with 49.1% in

fiscal 2001. The increase was primarily due to the write-off of

the investments mentioned above, as well as increased

spending on new business initiatives. Operating expenses

increased 24% over fiscal 2001, primarily due to the inclusion

of Hungry Minds and the aforementioned investment write-

offs. Excluding Hungry Minds and the investment write-offs,

operating expenses increased approximately 9%.

Interest expense net of interest income was $6.6 million in

fiscal 2002 versus $5.2 million in fiscal 2001, reflecting the

impact of higher average debt levels due to the acquisitions,

partially offset by lower average rates during the year.

The Company’s effective tax rate was 29.3% in fiscal 2002,

compared with 34.7% in the prior year. The decrease was

primarily due to lower foreign taxes including the settlement

of open tax issues.

During fiscal 2002, the Company repurchased 96,500 Class A

Common shares at an average price of $19.49 per share for a

total cost of $1.9 million. Through April 30, 2002, the Company

repurchased 2,751,850 Class A Common shares at an average

price of $16.80 per share for a total cost of $46.2 million

under the Company’s current stock repurchase program.

F I S C A L  2 0 0 2  S E G M E N T  R E S U L T S

Professional/Trade | Domestic Professional/Trade reported a

56% increase in revenues in fiscal 2002 to $253.1 million.

Excluding Hungry Minds, revenues advanced 3%. Direct

contribution to profit improved 75% to $62.1 million in fiscal

2002 versus $35.6 million in fiscal 2001, primarily due to the

acquisition of Hungry Minds. The direct contribution margin

was 24.6% of revenues compared with 21.9% of revenues in

fiscal 2001. The margin improvement was attributable to the

synergies realized through the integration of Hungry Minds.

During the year, the Professional/Trade segment experienced

the negative effects of the slowdown in retail and corporate

sales following the September 11th terrorist attacks and

general economic conditions. Business and travel books were

most affected. The culinary, architecture, psychology, and

general interest areas continued to perform well. The pace of

sales improved significantly in the last four months of the

fiscal year. The rebound was powered by two bestsellers –

Christopher Byron’s Martha, Inc., and Martin Weiss’s

Ultimate Safe Money Guide. Other revenue drivers were a

strong tax publication season, and the launch of several titles

from the Company’s publishing alliances and franchises such

as BusinessThink by David Marcum and Steve Smith (the

Franklin Covey Institute); The Professional Chef seventh

edition (the Culinary Institute of America); the Architect’s
Handbook of Professional Practice 13th edition (the American

Institute of Architects); and Brought to You in Living Color:
75 Years of Great Moments in Television & Radio from NBC by

Marc Robinson.

The acquisition of Hungry Minds nearly doubled the annual-

ized revenues of the domestic Professional/Trade segment

through the addition of new products and capabilities. The

acquisition included 2,500 active titles, which are available

in 39 languages. Well-known brands include the For
Dummies and Unofficial Guide series, the technological Bible
and Visual series, Frommer’s travel guides, CliffsNotes,

Webster’s New World Dictionary, Betty Crocker, and Weight
Watchers. In the highly competitive publishing industry,

brand recognition is important with both intermediaries and

ultimate purchasers. The acquisition accelerated revenue

and earnings growth by enhancing the Company’s already

strong presence in the segment and leveraging its worldwide

distribution channels. In a notable success, Windows XP For
Dummies became the industry’s top-selling computer title.

Other acquisitions included Frank. J. Fabozzi Publishing, a

publisher of high-quality finance books for the professional

market.

Shortly after the close of the fiscal year, the Company

acquired a list of approximately 250 titles from Prentice Hall

Direct, a unit of Pearson Education, for approximately $6.5

million. This acquisition brings a collection of practical,

“hands-on” teaching resources, which complement the

Company’s renowned Jossey-Bass Education series and its

market-leading Janice Van Cleave series.
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The Internet is playing a growing role in the Company’s busi-

ness. The Company’s highly respected brands and extensive

backlist are especially suited for online bookstores. With

their unlimited “virtual” shelf space, online retailers mer-

chandise the Company’s products for longer periods of time

than brick-and-mortar bookstores.

Demand for Web-based electronic products has emerged in

professional markets with the advent of broadband Internet

access. In fiscal 2002, the Company launched online prod-

ucts such as TheraForms downloadable forms from Wiley’s

practice management books. Additional Web-based products

will be introduced in fiscal 2003.

STM | Domestic STM revenues increased 6% in fiscal 2002 to

$164.9 million, reflecting strong journal subscription renewal

rates, the growth of Wiley InterScience online services, the

addition of three society journals, and new products. Direct

contribution to profit declined 5% to $67.7, attributable to the

previously mentioned write-off of two small investments.

Excluding the write-off, the direct contribution increased 2%

and the direct contribution margin was 44.1% of revenues,

compared with 45.8% of revenues in fiscal 2001, reflecting

the continued investment in sales, marketing, and service

enhancements for Wiley InterScience, as well as the addition

of new society journals, which typically have lower margins

than other journals.

The Company’s STM business is migrating rapidly to the

Internet through the profitable Wiley InterScience service,

established commercially in 1999. Wiley InterScience is

based on a successful business model that features

Enhanced Access Licenses. One to three years in duration,

these licenses provide customers with multisite online

access to journals and other STM products. The value of

licenses signed by academic institutions, companies, and

consortia approximately doubled in fiscal 2002. Wiley
InterScience is now licensed by customers in 87 countries,

delivering must-have content to almost six million scientists,

researchers, academics, and professionals around the world.

Growth is being driven by the global research community’s

demand for quality content, readily accessible and fully

searchable.

The Company continues to add a rich content offering and

greater functionality to Wiley InterScience to meet customer

needs and increase the revenue base. The service now provides

online access to virtually all of the Company’s over 350 journals

and to more than 30 reference works, as well as to approxi-

mately 250 STM books through OnlineBooks, a new feature. 

In fiscal 2002, Wiley expanded its MobileEdition service to 20 

journals, including the launch of TNM MobileEdition, the first

portable electronic version of the TNM classification system,

which Wiley publishes in print. MobileEditions are designed

for use on Personal Digital Assistants and other wireless

devices. Also new were ContentAlerts and Roaming Access,

which enable researchers to access the scientific literature

they need, as soon as it is available, wherever and whenever

they want. Rapid growth in customer use is being fueled as

well by linking agreements with third-party providers. These

linkages enhance functionality by enabling a researcher to

click on a reference citation and immediately access the cited

publication, even at another publisher. Additional linking

agreements were established in fiscal 2002 with EBSCO Online,

PubMed, Celera Genomics, and Chemical Abstract Services.

Wiley’s journals are now linked to more than 130 other

publishers’ journals.

Continuing the expansion of its worldwide peer-reviewed

journals program, in fiscal 2002 the Company acquired pub-

lishing rights to three additional society journals in the

United States. These titles add revenues, profits, cash flow,

and prestige to Wiley. In addition, the Company signed a 

10-year extension of its publishing agreement for the

Journal of Research in Science Teaching, the official journal

of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching.

The Company’s worldwide journal business increased as a

result of antipiracy initiatives and the Chinese government’s

decision to close the largest supplier of pirated journals.

Higher Education | Domestic Higher Education revenues

increased 6% to $141.3 million in fiscal 2002, partly attribut-

able to the acquisition of higher education titles during the

year. Direct contribution to profit increased 6% to $44.3

million, and the direct contribution margin of 31.3% of rev-

enues was essentially the same as the prior year. Although

college enrollments in engineering, a key Wiley area, were

flat, the Company’s business, psychology, and geography

programs performed well.

A core strategy is to build the business through a combination

of organic growth and acquisitions. The Company rolled out a

strong frontlist in fiscal 2002, publishing 134 packages. In

November 2001, the Company acquired 47 titles from

Thomson Learning in business, earth and biological sciences,

foreign languages, mathematics, nutrition, and psychology.

The Company has created value by leveraging its existing

infrastructure and by strengthening author relationships,

resulting in new contracts for additional educational packages.
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Higher education demographics remain favorable overall, with

more students attending college and enrolling in lifelong

learning courses than ever before. In addition, the soft econo-

my has resulted in increased student applications to graduate

programs. The Company has introduced new, value-added

materials and services to combat used-book sales, which is a

continuing industrywide problem. Initial student orders were

received for the Web Access License, a fee-based service

that provides access to online supplements for students.

The Company continues to develop new formats to create

more value for teachers and students. Active Learning
Editions with brief texts and integrated study tools, were

introduced in fiscal 2002 as a lower-priced alternative to

traditional textbooks.

With approximately 1,700 Web sites that support its texts, in

addition to many Web-based free and for-sale supplements,

Higher Education has launched a number of products that

integrate technology and print to provide students and

instructors with tools to improve outcomes or meet specific

objectives. An example is eGrade, Web-based software that

allows students to do independent, self-paced practice home-

work with immediate scoring and individualized feedback.

The Company also introduced Calculus Machina, a step-by-

step, Web-based calculus tutorial that will be customized to

additional subjects. During fiscal year 2002, the Company

published the first Interactive Homework Editions, a new

product that integrates end-of-chapter problem-solving with

an online interactive e-book. The IHE program was success-

fully pilot-tested at Penn State.

Europe | European fiscal 2002 revenues of $164.1 million

advanced 6% over fiscal 2001. Direct contribution to profit

was $54.6 million, up 9%. The direct contribution margin was

33.3% of revenues in fiscal 2002 and 32.3% of revenues in

fiscal 2001. The STM journals business was strong in fiscal

2002, with improved subscription renewals and growing

electronic access. Higher education programs also were a

key revenue driver.

Acquisitions at the end of fiscal 2002 included A&M Publishing

Ltd., a U.K.-based publisher for the pharmaceutical and

healthcare sectors, and GIT Verlag GmbH, a German publisher

for the chemical, pharmaceutical, biotechnology, security,

and engineering industries.

Wiley-VCH in Germany introduced nearly a dozen new journals,

including Advanced Synthesis & Catalysis, Macromolecular
Bioscience, and PROTEOMICS.

Wiley U.K. launched ExpressExec, encompassing approxi-

mately 100 management books available in electronic and

print formats. Wiley-VCH launched www.pro-physics.de, a

community-of-interest Web site. As part of its alliance strate-

gy, the Company concluded an agreement with Symbian Ltd.,

a joint venture between Nokia, Ericsson, Motorola, and NTT, to

publish a range of titles about applications and programming

for the Symbian operating system.

In both the U.K. and Germany, the Company will be moving to

new offices that provide a more collaborative and productive

work environment.

Other Segments | Revenues advanced 6% in fiscal 2002 to

$68.3 million, reflecting a solid performance in Canada and

Australia, including Hungry Minds’ international sales, offset

to a large degree by weak economic conditions in Asia. Direct

contribution to profit was $15.2 million, up 3%. The direct

contribution margin was 22.2% of revenues in fiscal 2002

and 22.9% of revenues in fiscal 2001.

Wiley Australia achieved solid growth in its higher education

business and won the bookseller’s Tertiary Publisher of the

Year award for outstanding service to the higher education

market for the fourth consecutive year. Professional/Trade

publishing was expanded with the acquisition of Wrightbooks,

Pty, Ltd., a publisher of high-quality finance books for the

professional market, which exceeded expectations.

Wiley Canada solidified its leadership in accounting through a

targeted effort to increase sales of higher education titles

such as Kimmel, Weygandt, Kieso, and Trenholm: Financial
Accounting: Tools for Business Decision-Making, Canadian

edition. Its trade program was bolstered by Hungry Minds,

which has a strong market presence with titles such as

Taxes For Canadians For Dummies and Frommer’s with Kids
travel guides to major Canadian cities. In Asia, a weak economy

adversely affected results. However, strong growth continued

in China, as the Company’s foreign rights and copublishing

business benefited from the opening of China’s educational

market.

R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S
F I S C A L  2 0 0 1  C O M P A R E D  T O  F I S C A L  2 0 0 0

Net income increased 12% to $58.9 million in fiscal 2001,

while earnings per diluted share advanced 15% to $0.93 per

share. The Company continued to expand its alliances and

invest in new technologies to create additional avenues to

distribute its must-have content. Results also benefited from

continued productivity improvements and prudent expense

management. Results were strong in the first half of the

fiscal year. However, the second half was marked by industry-

wide sluggish sales in the domestic Higher Education and

Professional/Trade segments.
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Revenues were adversely affected by a strong U.S. dollar.

Revenues of $613.8 million for the year advanced 4% in real

terms, excluding foreign currency translation effects, or 1%

including those effects. Revenue gains were led by the global

STM business attributable to solid performances in the journal

programs, online services, and a revitalized book program in

Europe. In addition, the Company’s operations in Asia and

Australia reported strong results.

Cost of sales as a percentage of revenues was 32.5% in fiscal

2001, down from 33% in the prior year, reflecting lower relative

composition and production costs as a result of technology-

driven productivity initiatives.

Operating and administrative costs were essentially flat with

the prior year, but increased 3% excluding foreign exchange

translation effects. Expenses as a percentage of revenues

were 49.1%, compared with 49.6% in the prior year. The

decrease was attributable to lower expenses in fiscal 2001

related to a small STM newsletter program that was divested

during the year.

Operating income increased 7% over the prior year and the

operating margin improved to 15.5% from 14.7% in the prior year

due to productivity gains and gross margin improvements.

Interest expense net of interest income of $5.2 million

declined compared with the prior year due to increased cash

investments.

The effective tax rate declined to 34.7% from 36.6% in the

prior year, attributable to lower relative state income taxes

resulting from the settlement of open tax issues.

During the year, the Company repurchased approximately

359,000 shares at an average price of $19.19 per share for a

total cost of $6.9 million.

F I S C A L  2 0 0 1  S E G M E N T  R E S U L T S

Professional/Trade | Domestic Professional/Trade revenues of

$162.1 million were essentially flat for the year, reflecting the

effect of industrywide softness at some key retail accounts,

as well as tight inventory management practices adopted by

major wholesalers. Sales through online accounts continued

to grow around the world. Direct contribution to profit of

$33.5 million was 11% below the prior year, as expenses

increased 5%. The Professional/Trade business continued to

take advantage of the growth of e-commerce. Demand

increased for electronic products among the professional 

markets that the Company serves, notably computing,

accounting, finance, psychology, and architecture.

Professional/Trade capitalized on these opportunities with a

combination of print and Web-based products and services,

as well as through the formation of strategic alliances.

Electronic licensing agreements included Professional/Trade’s

leadership and management titles to Books24X7 for their

new Business Pro subscription database; the J.K. Lasser tax

guide to www.CPAdirectory.com, a Web portal, for use in a

syndicated database; and the licensing of content to Digital

Cement, a B2B service that provides content packages to

corporate clients.

BoldIdeas, an online collection of 40 business and environ-

mental management periodicals, was launched in fiscal 2001

on the Wiley InterScience platform.

In fiscal 2001, The Power of Gold, The Ernst & Young Tax Guide
2001, and J.K. Lasser’s Income Tax Guide 2001 appeared on

best-seller lists such as The Wall Street Journal, The New York
Times, and Business Week.

STM | Domestic STM revenues of $156.1 million increased 

4% over fiscal 2000, led by a strong journal program, offset

to some degree by the divestment of a small newsletter

program. Journal growth resulted from higher renewal rates,

increased sales of Enhanced Access Licenses for Wiley
InterScience, and the addition of society journals. Direct

contribution to profit increased 12% to $71.5 million. Margins

continued to improve as a result of lower composition and

production costs as a percentage of revenues, as well as

lower expenses in fiscal 2001 related to the divested news-

letter program. During the year, Wiley InterScience enhanced

its online product offerings to include major reference works

such as multivolume encyclopedias, databases, and Current
Protocols, the widely used laboratory manual series. Other

system enhancements included ArticleSelect, providing

individual article access; EarlyView, allowing customers to

access individual articles online well in advance of the print

issue; MobileEdition, providing tables of contents and

abstracts directly to personal and wireless handheld devices

and Web-enabled phones; and an alliance with Maruzen

KnowledgeWorker, providing a Japanese interface to enable

searching and browsing in that language.

The Company signed a multiyear agreement with IEEE, the

premier society for electrical, electronics, and computer engi-

neers with more than 360,000 members in 150 countries, to

publish a cobranded series of books.
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Higher Education | Domestic Higher Education revenues

advanced 3% over the prior year. Growth was inhibited by

disruption resulting from the bankruptcy of a major account,

as well as a shift away from the higher education market by

some online accounts. Direct contribution to profit increased

11% to $41.9 million, and the direct contribution margin

improved to 31.5% of revenues compared with 29.1% of reve-

nues in fiscal 2000, as a result of prudent expense manage-

ment. Demographic trends in the higher education market

remained healthy with enrollments increasing steadily and

online and lifelong learning markets growing. The Higher

Education segment continued to invest in technology to help

teachers teach and students learn. Every major college text-

book now has a technology component and/or Web site

designed to facilitate teaching and learning. Alliances were

formed to provide many of the Company’s top-selling text-

books in the e-book format. The Company worked with

course management providers to offer interactive syllabi,

chat rooms, and assessment tools including online quizzing

and testing. The Company is also packaging XanEdu’s MBA

ReSearch Engine with the print editions of some of Higher

Education’s leading textbooks.

Europe | European segment revenues of $155.3 million for

the year were adversely affected by the strong U.S. dollar.

Excluding foreign currency translation effects, European

revenues advanced 7% over fiscal 2000. Direct contribution 

to profit of $50.1 million increased 5% over fiscal 2000, and

the direct contribution margin increased to 32.3% of revenues

compared with 31.1% of revenues in fiscal 2000. Performance

was driven by a revitalized STM book program, higher journal

revenues, and an expanding professional/trade book program.

During the year, the European segment continued to expand

its publishing programs by acquiring a majority stake in the

Oxford-based business publisher Capstone Publishing, Ltd.

Capstone, with annual revenues of approximately $2 million,

publishes a broad array of professional business and

management titles. New journal launches, in conjunction

with European chemistry societies, included ChemPhysChem,
ChemBioChem, and Chemistry – A European Journal.

Other Segments | Revenues of $64.3 million advanced 8% 

over fiscal 2000, excluding the adverse foreign currency

translation effects related to the strong U.S. dollar. The

improvement in the other segments results was mainly due 

to market share gains in Asia and a strong school program in

Australia, offset to some degree by industrywide sales short-

falls at a key Canadian account.

L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I T A L  R E S O U R C E S

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance was

$39.7 million at the end of fiscal 2002, compared with $52.9

million a year earlier. Cash provided by operating activities of

$140.4 million improved by $9.4 million over the prior year,

and was driven primarily by increased cash earnings partially

offset by the payment of acquisition-related liabilities and an

increase in taxes receivable. Cash used for investing activities

of $314.1 million increased $242.2 million over the prior year,

representing the higher level of acquisitions consummated

during the year, including Hungry Minds. Cash provided by

financing activities reflected a net increase of $207.2 million

over the prior year primarily related to the increased debt

needed to finance the acquisitions.

The Company’s operating cash flow is affected by the season-

ality of its domestic higher education business and receipts

from its journal subscriptions. Receipts from journal subscrip-

tions occur primarily during November and December from

companies commonly referred to as independent subscription

agents. Reference is made to the Credit Risk section which

follows for a description of the impact on the Company as it

relates to journal agents’ financial position and liquidity. Sales

in the domestic higher education market tend to be concen-

trated in June through August, and again in November through

January. The Company normally requires increased funds for

working capital from May through September. Subject to vari-

ations that may be caused by fluctuations in inventory levels

or in patterns of customer payments, the Company’s normal

operating cash flow is not expected to vary materially in the

near term.

Although the statement of financial condition indicates a

negative working capital of $45.1 million at April 30, 2002,

current liabilities include $125.8 million of deferred subscrip-

tion revenues related to journals for which the cash has been

received and will be recognized into income as the journals

are shipped or made available online to the customer, or over

the term of the subscription as services are rendered.

Excluding this deferred income item, working capital at April

30, 2002, was a positive $80.7 million.

To finance the Hungry Minds acquisition and provide financial

flexibility, the Company obtained an additional $300 million

bank credit facility with 13 banks, consisting of a $200 million 
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five-year term loan facility to be repaid in September 2006,

and a $100 million five-year revolving credit facility expiring

in September 2006.

To finance its short-term seasonal working capital require-

ments, including the $30 million scheduled debt repayment,

and its growth opportunities, the Company has adequate

cash and cash equivalents available, as well as both

domestic and foreign short-term lines of credit, amounting

to $180 million as more fully described in the note to the

consolidated financial statements entitled “Notes Payable

and Debt.” The Company does not have any off-balance-

sheet debt.

The capital expenditures of the Company consist primarily of

investments in product development and property and

equipment. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2003 are projected

to be approximately $131 million, an increase of approximately

$50 million over fiscal 2002, of which approximately $45

million pertains to facilities and leasehold improvements

related to the relocation of certain operations in the U.S. and

Europe and the remainder represents increased investments

in product development, including electronic media products,

and computer equipment upgrades and software in support

of the higher volume of business to ensure efficient customer

service. These investments will be funded primarily from

internal cash generation, the liquidation of cash equivalents,

and the use of short-term lines of credit.

A summary of contractual obligations and commercial com-

mitments is as follows:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

Contractual Less than 1-3 4-5 After
Obligation Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Total Debt $ 265.0 $ 30.0 $ 35.0 $ 200.0 $ —

Operating 
Lease 
Obligations 271.0 34.5 44.4 42.5 149.6

Building 
Construction
Obligations 13.3 13.3 — — —

Total 
Contractual
Cash 
Obligations $ 549.3 $ 77.8 $ 79.4 $ 242.5 $ 149.6

M A R K E T  R I S K

The Company is exposed to market risk primarily related to

interest rates, foreign exchange, and credit risk. It is the

Company’s policy to monitor these exposures and to use

derivative financial investments and/or insurance contracts

from time to time to reduce fluctuations in earnings and cash

flows when it is deemed appropriate to do so. The Company

does not use derivative financial instruments for trading or

speculative purposes.

I N T E R E S T  R A T E S

The Company had $265 million of variable rate loans out-

standing at April 30, 2002, which approximated fair value.

The Company did not use any derivative financial investments

to manage this exposure. A hypothetical 1% change in interest

rates for this variable rate debt would affect net income and

cash flow by approximately $1.6 million.

F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E  R A T E S

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange movements pri-

marily in sterling, euros, and Asian, Canadian, and Australian

currencies. Consequently, the Company, from time to time,

enters into foreign exchange forward contracts as a hedge

against foreign currency asset, liability, commitment, and

anticipated transaction exposures, including intercompany

purchases. At April 30, 2002, the Company had open foreign

exchange forward contracts, expiring through January 2003,

relating to hedges of foreign currency exposures as follows:

IN THOUSANDS AVERAGE
CURRENCY PURCHASED U.S. $ VALUE CONTRACT RATE

Euro $ 93 .9320

U.K. Pound Sterling $ 11,844 1.4992

A hypothetical 10% change in exchange rates would have the

effect of approximately $0.7 million.

C R E D I T  R I S K

The Company’s business is not dependent upon a single

customer; however, the industry has experienced a significant

concentration in national, regional, and online bookstore

chains in recent years. Although no one book customer

accounts for more than 8% of total consolidated revenues,

the top 10 book customers account for approximately 31% 

of total consolidated revenues and approximately 48% of

total gross trade accounts receivable at April 30, 2002. To 
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mitigate its credit risk exposure, the Company obtains credit

insurance where available and economically justifiable. In

the journal publishing business, subscriptions are primarily

sourced through independent subscription agents who,

acting as agents for library customers, facilitate ordering 

by consolidating the subscription orders/billings of each

subscriber with various publishers. Monies are generally

collected in advance from subscribers by the subscription

agents and are remitted to the journal publisher, including

the Company, generally prior to the commencement of the

subscriptions. Although at fiscal year-end the Company had

minimal credit risk exposure to these agents, future calendar-

year subscription receipts from these agents are highly

dependent on their financial condition and liquidity. Sub-

scription agents account for approximately 25% of total

consolidated revenues and no one agent accounts for more

than 7% of total consolidated revenues. Insurance for these

accounts is not commercially feasible and/or available.

E F F E C T S  O F  I N F L A T I O N  A N D  C O S T  I N C R E A S E S

The Company, from time to time, experiences cost increases

reflecting, in part, general inflationary factors. To mitigate the

effect of cost increases, the Company has implemented a

number of initiatives, including various steps to reduce pro-

duction and manufacturing costs. In addition, selling prices

have been selectively increased as competitive conditions

have permitted. The Company anticipates that it will be able

to continue this approach in the future.

C R I T I C A L  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in

the U.S. requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Management continually evaluates the basis for its estimates;

however, actual results could differ from those estimates,

which could affect the reported results from operations. Set

forth below is a discussion of the Company’s more critical

accounting policies and the basis for estimates used.

R E V E N U E  R E C O G N I T I O N

Revenue is recognized when products have been shipped or

when services have been rendered and when the following

additional criteria have been met: persuasive evidence that

an arrangement or contract exists; the price to the customer

is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonably

assured. Collectibility is evaluated based on the amount

involved, the credit history of the customer, and the current

status of the customer’s account with the Company.

A L L O W A N C E  F O R  D O U B T F U L  A C C O U N T S

The estimated allowance for doubtful accounts is based on

a review of the aging of the accounts-receivable balances,

the historical write-off experience, the credit standing of

customers, and the amount of credit insurance coverage. 

A change in the credit standing of customers and/or the

amount of credit insurance available could affect the

estimated allowance.

A L L O W A N C E  F O R  S A L E S  R E T U R N S

The estimated allowance for sales returns is based on a

review of the historical return patterns associated with the

various sales outlets, as well as current market trends in the

businesses in which we operate. A change in the patterns or

trends in returns could affect the estimated allowances.

R E S E R V E  F O R  I N V E N T O R Y  O B S O L E S C E N C E

Inventories are carried at cost or market, whichever is lower.

A reserve for inventory obsolescence is estimated based 

on a review of damaged, obsolete, or otherwise unsaleable

inventory. The review encompasses historical unit-sales trends

by title, current market conditions, including estimates of

customer demand, and publication revision cycles. A change

in sales trends could affect the estimated reserve.

A L L O C A T I O N  O F  A C Q U I S I T I O N  P U R C H A S E  P R I C E
T O  A S S E T S  A C Q U I R E D  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S  A S S U M E D

In connection with acquisitions, the Company allocates the

cost of the acquisition to the assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed based on estimates of the fair value of

such items including goodwill, other intangible assets with

indefinite lives, and other intangible assets and the related

useful lives. Such estimates include expected cash flows to

be generated by those assets and the expected useful lives

based on historical experience, current market trends, and

synergies to be achieved from the acquisition. For major

acquisitions, the Company uses independent appraisers to

confirm the reasonableness of such estimates. A change in

the useful lives of intangible assets other than goodwill could

affect the Company’s amortization expense for the year.
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I M P A I R M E N T  O F  I N T A N G I B L E  A N D  O T H E R  L O N G -
L I V E D  A S S E T S

Management periodically evaluates the recoverability of

intangibles, including goodwill, and other long-lived assets

in connection with its annual financial process review, or

whenever facts and circumstances indicate the carrying

value of those assets may not be recoverable. Evaluations

include estimates of future cash flows generated by the

underlying assets, current trends, and other determinants

of fair value. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds the

estimated fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for

the difference. It is possible that the estimates of the fair

value may not be realized due to future changes in market

conditions and other factors, in which case a further impair-

ment loss would have to be recognized.

R E C E N T  A C C O U N T I N G  S T A N D A R D S

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)

No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and No. 142, “Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires all business

combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted

for by a single method – the purchase method. In addition,

the statement requires the purchase price to be allocated to

identifiable intangible assets in addition to goodwill if certain

criteria are met. The statement also requires additional

disclosures related to the reasons for the business combina-

tion, to the allocation of the purchase price, and if significant

by reportable segment, to the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed.

SFAS No. 142 eliminates the requirement to amortize goodwill

and those intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,

but requires an annual test for impairment at the reporting

unit level. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives will

continue to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142

will be effective in fiscal 2003 for goodwill and other intangi-

ble assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001, and is effective

immediately for acquisitions occurring after June 30, 2001.

The Company is in the process of evaluating and reassessing

its goodwill and other intangible assets to determine the

impact of any impairment and the related useful lives and

the corresponding amortization expense to be recorded. The

Company anticipates that approximately $10 million of fiscal

year 2002 amortization, equal to $0.12 per diluted share,

related to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives

will be eliminated as a charge to earnings in the future,

absent any other changes.

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement

Obligations.” This standard addresses the financial account-

ing and reporting for obligations associated with the retire-

ment of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset

retirement costs. The standard is effective for fiscal 2004.

The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not expected to have a mate-

rial impact on the Company’s financial results.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” This standard addresses

financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or dis-

posal of long-lived assets. The standard is effective for fiscal

2004. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 is not expected to have a

material impact on the Company’s financial results.

“ S A F E  H A R B O R ”  S T A T E M E N T  U N D E R  T H E  P R I V A T E
S E C U R I T I E S  L I T I G A T I O N  R E F O R M  A C T  O F  1 9 9 5

This report contains certain forward-looking statements

concerning the Company’s operations, performance, and

financial condition. Reliance should not be placed on forward-

looking statements, as actual results may differ materially

from those in any forward-looking statements. Any such

forward-looking statements are based upon a number of

assumptions and estimates that are inherently subject to

uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond

the control of the Company, and are subject to change based

on many important factors. Such factors include but are not

limited to (i) the level of investment in new technologies

and products; (ii) subscriber renewal rates for the Company’s

journals; (iii) the financial stability and liquidity of journal

subscription agents; (iv) the consolidation of book whole-

salers and retail accounts; (v) the market position and

financial stability of key online retailers; (vi) the seasonal

nature of the Company’s educational business and the impact

of the used book market; (vii) worldwide economic and

political conditions; and (viii) other factors detailed from time

to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission. The Company undertakes no obliga-

tion to update or revise any such forward-looking statements

to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
APRIL 30

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,705 $ 52,947

Accounts receivable 101,084 62,514

Taxes receivable 18,664 —

Inventories 69,799 50,763 

Deferred income tax benefits 34,394 13,331 

Prepaid expenses 11,613 9,980 

Total Current Assets 275,259 189,535 

Product Development Assets 63,055 41,191 

Property and Equipment 72,127 52,255 

Intangible Assets 468,536 283,761 

Deferred Income Tax Benefits 1,351 3,380 

Other Assets 15,817 17,880 

Total Assets $ 896,145 $588,002 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current Liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ 30,000 $ 30,000 

Accounts and royalties payable 67,516 42,520 

Deferred subscription revenues 125,793 117,103 

Accrued income taxes 9,769 9,586 

Other accrued liabilities 87,315 47,552 

Total Current Liabilities 320,393 246,761 

Long-Term Debt 235,000 65,000 

Other Long-Term Liabilities 49,827 34,901 

Deferred Income Taxes 14,275 21,317 

Shareholders' Equity

Common stock issued

Class A (68,066,602 and 68,037,102 shares) 68,067 68,037 

Class B (15,123,660 and 15,153,160 shares) 15,124 15,153 

Additional paid-in capital 26,838 18,900 

Retained earnings 294,032 247,731 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,534) (3,117)

Derivative cash flow hedges (168) —

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,702) (3,117)

Unearned deferred compensation (1,375) (1,755)

399,984 344,949

Less Treasury Shares at Cost
(Class A — 18,004,770 and 18,971,692; Class B — 3,484,096 and 3,484,096) (123,334) (124,926)

Total Shareholders' Equity 276,650 220,023 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 896,145 $588,002 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E  A N D  R E T A I N E D  E A R N I N G S

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30 

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2002 2001 2000

Revenues $734,396 $ 613,790 $606,024

Costs and Expenses

Cost of sales 243,196 199,400 200,050

Operating and administrative expenses 373,463 301,470 300,523

Amortization of intangibles 17,662 17,496 16,447 

Unusual item — relocation related expenses 12,312 — —

Total Costs and Expenses 646,633 518,366 517,020

Operating Income 87,763 95,424 89,004 

Interest Income and Other 835 2,828 2,017 

Interest Expense (7,480) (8,025) (8,390)

Interest Income (Expense) — Net (6,645) (5,197) (6,373)

Income Before Taxes 81,118 90,227 82,631 

Provision for Income Taxes 23,802 31,309 30,243 

Net Income 57,316 58,918 52,388 

Retained Earnings at Beginning of Year 247,731 198,539 154,759 

Cash Dividends

Class A Common ($.18, $.16, and $.14 per share) (8,918) (7,859) (7,075)

Class B Common ($.18, $.16, and $.13 per share) (2,097) (1,867) (1,533)

Total Dividends (11,015) (9,726) (8,608)

Retained Earnings at End of Year $ 294,032 $ 247,731 $ 198,539 

Income Per Share

Diluted $ 0.91 $ 0.93 $ 0.81

Basic $ 0.94 $ 0.97 $ 0.85

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Net Income $ 57,316 $ 58,918 $ 52,388 

Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Taxes

Foreign currency translation adjustments 583 525 (3,116)

Transition adjustment for derivative 
cash flow hedges as of May 1, 2001 (272) — —

Derivative cash flow hedges 104 — —

Comprehensive Income $ 57,731 $ 59,443 $ 49,272 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30 

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Operating Activities

Net Income $ 57,316 $ 58,918 $ 52,388 

Noncash Items

Amortization of intangibles 17,662 17,496 16,447 

Amortization of composition costs 25,653 22,583 24,900 

Depreciation of property and equipment 16,007 13,802 11,822 

Reserves for returns, doubtful accounts, and obsolescence 6,675 7,527 11,211 

Deferred income taxes (3,659) 3,530 1,795 

Write-off of investments 4,989 — 3,612 

Unusual item — relocation related expenses 12,312 — —

Other 16,523 10,185 9,063 

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (3,998) 5,063 (21,611)

Increase in taxes receivable (9,022) — —

Increase in inventories (4,657) (9,789) (1,149)

Increase (decrease) in accounts and royalties payable (1,018) (2,213) 6,134 

Increase in deferred subscription revenues 7,057 5,009 3,602 

Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities (169) (9,242) 12,100 

Net change in other operating assets and liabilities 11,062 8,145 3,383 

Payment of acquisition-related liabilities (12,367) — —

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 140,366 131,014 133,697 

Investing Activities

Additions to product development assets (48,039) (36,163) (33,153)

Additions to property and equipment (33,643) (28,656) (15,804)

Proceeds from sale of publishing assets — 2,950 —

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (232,393) (10,052) (145,111)

Cash Used for Investing Activities (314,075) (71,921) (194,068)

Financing Activities

Borrowings of long-term debt 200,000 — —

Repayment of long-term debt (30,000) (30,000) —

Cash dividends (11,015) (9,726) (8,608)

Purchase of treasury shares (1,880) (6,890) (32,144)

Proceeds from issuance of stock on option exercises and other 2,813 (655) (1,170)

Cash Provided by (Used for) Financing Activities 159,918 (47,271) (41,922)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 549 (1,174) (4,408)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Increase (decrease) for year (13,242) 10,648 (106,671)

Balance at beginning of year 52,947 42,299 148,970 

Balance at end of year $ 39,705 $ 52,947 $ 42,299 

Supplemental Information

Acquisitions

Fair value of assets acquired $ 307,915 $ 10,188 $ 154,754

Liabilities assumed (75,522) (136) (9,643)

Cash paid for businesses acquired $ 232,393 $ 10,052 $ 145,111

Cash Paid During the Year for

Interest $ 6,879 $ 9,033 $ 8,556 

Income taxes $ 17,080 $ 19,074 $ 21,122 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Principles of Consolidation | The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of John Wiley & Sons, Inc., and its

majority-owned subsidiaries. Investments in entities in which the Company has at least a 20%, but less than a majority interest,

are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Investments in entities in which the Company has less than a 20%

ownership and in which it does not exercise significant influence are accounted for using the cost method of accounting. All

significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior year amounts have

been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Use of Estimates | The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition | In accordance with S.E.C. Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,”

the Company recognizes revenue when the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; delivery

has occurred or services have been rendered; the price to the customer is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonably

assured. If all of the above criteria have been met, revenues are principally recognized upon shipment of products or when

services have been rendered. Subscription revenues are generally collected in advance, and are deferred and recognized as

earned when the related issue is shipped or made available online, or over the term of the subscription as services are rendered.

Sales Returns and Doubtful Accounts | The Company provides an estimated allowance for doubtful accounts and for future

returns on sales made during the year based on historical experience. The allowance for doubtful accounts and returns

(estimated returns net of inventory and royalty costs) is shown as a reduction of accounts receivable in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets and amounted to $84.8 and $52.8 million at April 30, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Inventories | Inventories are stated at cost or market, whichever is lower. Domestic book inventories aggregating $53.6 and

$38.4 million at April 30, 2002, and 2001, respectively, are valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. All other inventories

are valued using the first-in, first-out method.

Product Development Assets | Product development assets consist of composition costs and royalty advances to authors.

Composition costs, primarily representing the costs incurred to bring an edited manuscript to publication including typesetting,

proofreading, design and illustration, etc., are capitalized and generally amortized on a double-declining basis over estimated

useful lives, ranging from 1 to 3 years. Royalty advances to authors are capitalized and, upon publication, are recovered as

royalties earned by the authors based on sales of the published works.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software | Costs related to obtaining or developing computer software for internal use are accounted

for as follows. Costs incurred during the application development stage, including external costs of materials and services,

and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with the internal-use software project, are

capitalized and amortized over the expected useful life of the related software. Costs incurred during the preliminary project

stage, as well as maintenance, training, and upgrades that do not result in additional functionality, are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation and Amortization | Buildings, leasehold improvements, and capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the

estimated useful lives of the assets up to 40 years, or the duration of the various leases, using the straight-line method.

Furniture and fixtures is depreciated principally on the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 10

years. Computer equipment and capitalized software are amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging

from 3 to 5 years. 

Intangible Assets | Intangible assets consist of goodwill, which for acquisitions occurring prior to July 1, 2001, is amortized on

a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 5 to 40 years, and which for acquisitions occurring subsequent to June 30,

2001, is not amortized; branded trademarks and acquired publication rights with indefinite lives, which are not amortized;

other acquired publication rights which are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 5 to 30 years; and

noncompete agreements, which are amortized over the term of such agreements. If facts and circumstances indicate that

long-lived assets and/or intangible assets may be permanently impaired, it is the Company’s policy to assess the carrying
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value and recoverability of such assets based on an analysis of undiscounted future cash flows of the related operations. Any

resulting reduction in carrying value based on the estimated fair value would be charged to operating results. Estimated fair

value is principally determined using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. As

a result of such reviews, approximately $5.0 million and $3.6 million, relating primarily to small investments, were written off

and charged against operating income in fiscal year 2002 and 2000, respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments — Foreign Exchange Contracts | The Company, from time to time, enters into forward exchange

contracts as a hedge against foreign currency asset and liability commitments, and anticipated transaction exposures. The

Company does not use financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 

At the beginning of the current fiscal year, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and No. 138, which specifies the accounting and disclosure requirements for

such instruments. Under the new standard, all derivatives are recognized as assets or liabilities and measured at fair value.

Derivatives that are not determined to be effective hedges are adjusted to fair value with a corresponding effect on earnings.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and determined to be effective as part of a hedge transaction have

no immediate effect on earnings and depending on the type of hedge, are recorded either as part of other comprehensive

income and will be included in earnings in the period in which earnings are affected by the hedged item, or are included in

earnings as an offset to the earnings impact of the hedged item. Any ineffective portions of hedges are reported in earnings

as they occur. The adoption of these new standards as of May 1, 2001, resulted in a transition adjustment loss of $.3 million

after taxes, which is included as part of other comprehensive income. 

For a derivative to qualify as a hedge at inception and throughout the hedged period, the Company formally documents the

nature and relationships between the hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management objectives,

strategies for undertaking the various hedge transactions, and method of assessing hedge effectiveness. For hedges of fore-

casted transactions, the significant characteristics and expected terms of a forecasted transaction are specifically identified,

and it must be probable that each forecasted transaction will occur. If it is deemed probable that the forecasted transaction will

not occur, the gain or loss is recognized in earnings currently. 

At April 30, 2002, there were open foreign exchange forward contracts for approximately $11.9 million expiring in fiscal 2003

and designated as cash flow hedges. During fiscal year 2002, there was no material ineffectiveness related to the cash flow

hedges, and the estimated amount of gains or losses that are expected to be reclassified into earnings over the next year are

not material. At April 30, 2001, there were open foreign exchange forward contracts of approximately $15.6 million relating to

hedges of Euro and U.K. pound sterling exposures, and for which $.5 million of unrealized losses were deferred. Included in

operating and administrative expenses were net foreign exchange gains (losses) of approximately $(.3), $(.3) and $.1 million

in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation | The Company translates the results of operations of its foreign subsidiaries using average

exchange rates during each period, whereas balance sheet accounts are translated using exchange rates at the end of each

period. Currency translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in

stockholders’ equity.

Stock-Based Compensation | Stock options and restricted stock grants are accounted for in accordance with Accounting

Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and the disclosure-only provisions of Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Accordingly, the Company rec-

ognizes no compensation expense for fixed stock option grants since the exercise price is equal to the fair value of the shares

at date of grant. For restricted stock grants, compensation cost is generally recognized ratably over the vesting period based

on the fair value of shares.

Cash Equivalents | Cash equivalents consist primarily of highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less and

are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market value.

Recent Accounting Standards | In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires

all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for by a single method – the purchase method. In

addition, the statement requires the purchase price to be allocated to identifiable intangible assets in addition to goodwill if
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certain criteria are met. The statement also requires additional disclosures related to the reasons for the business combination,

to the allocation of the purchase price, and if significant by reportable segment, to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

SFAS No. 142 eliminates the requirement to amortize goodwill and those intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, but

requires an annual test for impairment at the reporting unit level. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue

to be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS No. 142 will be effective in fiscal 2002 for goodwill and other intangible assets

acquired prior to July 1, 2001, and is effective immediately for acquisitions occurring after June 30, 2001. The Company is in

the process of evaluating and reassessing its goodwill and other intangible assets to determine the impact of any impairment

and the related useful lives and the corresponding amortization expense to be recorded. The Company anticipates that approx-

imately $10 million of fiscal year 2002 amortization, equal to $0.12 per diluted share, related to goodwill and other intangibles

with indefinite lives will be eliminated as a charge to earnings in the future. 

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.”

This standard addresses the financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-

lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The standard is effective for fiscal 2004. The adoption of SFAS No. 143

is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial results.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of

Long-Lived Assets.” This standard addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived

assets. The standard is effective for fiscal 2004. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 is not expected to have a material impact on the

Company’s financial results.

I N C O M E  P E R  S H A R E

A reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of net income per share for the years ended April 30, follows:

IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 60,937 60,813 62,229

Less: Unearned Deferred Compensation Shares (247) (321) (505)

Shares Used for Basic Income Per Share 60,690 60,492 61,724

Dilutive Effect of Stock Options and Other Stock Awards 2,404 2,808 3,101

Shares Used for Diluted Income Per Share 63,094 63,300 64,825

A C Q U I S I T I O N S

In September 2001, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Hungry Minds, Inc. (Hungry Minds), for a total

purchase price of approximately $184.9 million, consisting of approximately $90.2 million in cash for the common stock of

Hungry Minds, $92.5 million in cash to enable Hungry Minds to repay its outstanding debt, and fees and expenses of approximately

$2 million. Hungry Minds is a leading publisher with a collection of respected brands including the For Dummies and Unofficial
Guide series, the technological Bible and Visual series, Frommer’s travel guides, CliffsNotes, Webster’s New World Dictionary,

Betty Crocker, Weight Watchers, and other market-leading brands. Hungry Minds has 2,500 active titles, which are available in

39 languages. The rationale for the Hungry Minds acquisition was to add significantly to the Company’s already strong collection

of content, thereby enhancing its competitive position in the professional/trade segment, particularly with major trade and

online accounts. The Hungry Minds brands are well known in the United States and abroad. The Company’s extensive global

market reach provides the opportunity to generate incremental revenues of the Hungry Minds brands. In addition, the acquisi-

tion provides synergistic opportunities yielding cost savings throughout the publishing process and in infrastructure costs. 

The results of operations of Hungry Minds have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the

date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition has been allocated on the basis of preliminary estimates of the fair values of

the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Final asset and liability fair values may differ based on finalization of restruc-

turing accruals related to Hungry Minds’ international businesses, estimated sublease income on vacated premises, tax

bases, and other considerations; however, it is anticipated that any changes will not have a material effect, in the aggregate,

on the consolidated financial position of the Company. 
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The following table summarizes the preliminary estimate of the fair values of the Hungry Minds’ assets acquired and liabilities

assumed at the date of acquisition.

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS

Current Assets $ 82,027

Product Development Assets 12,376

Property and Equipment 3,839

Goodwill 89,679

Other Intangible Assets 58,600

Deferred Income Tax Benefit 8,294

Total Assets Acquired 254,815

Current Liabilities (60,918)

Long-Term Liabilities (8,962)

Total Liabilities Assumed (69,880)

Net Assets Acquired $184,935

In fiscal 2002, the Company also acquired four other businesses for purchase prices aggregating $35.1 million. These included

A&M Publishing Ltd., a U.K.-based publisher for the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors, GIT Verlag GmbH, a German pub-

lisher for the chemical, pharmaceutical, biotechnology, security, and engineering industries; and Frank J. Fabozzi Publishing,

and an Australian publisher, Wrightbooks Pty Ltd., both publishing high-quality finance books for the professional market. 

Intangible assets for all of the above acquisitions, including Hungry Minds, were as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS AMOUNT RECORDED TAX-DEDUCTIBLE AMOUNT

Goodwill $103,898 $ 977

Other Intangible Assets Not Subject to Amortization

Branded trademarks $ 57,900 $ 48,592

Acquired publication rights 22,325 8,859

Total $ 80,225 $ 57,451

Other Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

Acquired publication rights $ 1,919 $ 623

Noncompete agreements 150 150

Total $ 2,069 $ 773

The weighted-average amortization period was 10 years for acquired publication rights, 5 years for noncompete agreements,

and 10 years for the total intangible assets subject to amortization. The following unaudited pro forma financial information

presents the results of operations of the Company as if the above acquisitions had been consummated as of May 1, 2000. The

unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the actual results that would have been achieved had

the acquisition actually been consummated as of May 1, 2000, nor is it necessarily indicative of the future results of operations.

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2002 2001

Revenues $ 818,038 $ 848,285

Net Income $ 36,593 $ 56,207

Income Per Diluted Share $ 0.58 $ 0.89

The pro forma financial information for fiscal year 2001 included a nonrecurring charge related to Hungry Minds’ restructuring

and impairment writedowns amounting to $3 million after taxes, or $0.05 per share. Offsetting this charge was a nonrecurring

gain related to Hungry Minds’ revision of certain assumptions in the calculation of its sales returns reserve resulting in increased

revenues, net income, and income per share of approximately $5 million, $3 million, and $0.05 per share, respectively.

DELIVERING VALUE | 31 | DRIVING GROWTH



During fiscal 2002, the Company also acquired publishing assets consisting of 47 higher education titles from Thomson Learning

for approximately $16.1 million in cash. The titles are in such publishing areas as business, earth and biological sciences,

foreign languages, mathematics, nutrition, and psychology. The excess of cost over the fair value of the tangible assets

acquired amounted to approximately $13.5 million, relating to acquired publishing rights that are being amortized on a

straight-line basis over 20 years.

In fiscal year 2001, the Company acquired interests in certain publishing properties for approximately $10.1 million, including

an environmental remediation portal and database; a majority interest in an Oxford-based publisher of professional business

and management titles; new agreements with certain prestigious scholarly and professional societies to publish their journals;

and an investment in an informatics company. The cost of these investments was allocated primarily to investments, and to

goodwill, acquired publication rights, and noncompete agreements that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated

average lives ranging from 5 to 20 years.

In fiscal year 2000, the Company acquired certain higher education titles and related assets for approximately $57 million in

cash. The higher education titles included such disciplines as biology/anatomy and physiology, engineering, mathematics,

economics, finance, and teacher education. In addition, the Company acquired the Jossey-Bass publishing company from

Pearson, Inc., for approximately $81 million in cash. Jossey-Bass publishes books and journals for professionals and executives

in such areas as business, psychology and nonprofit institution management. The Company also acquired the J.K. Lasser tax

and financial guides for approximately $5 million in cash and other smaller acquisitions for approximately $2 million. The

acquisitions were financed by available cash balances and short-term lines of credit. The cost of the acquisitions was allocated

on the basis of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The excess of cost over the fair value of the

tangible assets acquired amounted to approximately $143 million, relating primarily to acquired publication rights, goodwill,

and noncompete agreements that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated average lives ranging from 3 to

20 years. 

All prior fiscal year acquisitions have been accounted for by the purchase method, and the accompanying financial statements

include their results of operations since their respective dates of acquisition. 

U N U S U A L  I T E M

Fiscal 2002 operating results include an unusual charge to earnings amounting to approximately $12.3 million, or $7.7 million

after tax, equal to $0.12 per diluted share ($0.13 per basic share) relating to the relocation of the Company’s headquarters to

Hoboken, New Jersey, from New York City, and includes lease payments of approximately $10.2 million on the vacated premises

through April 2003, the term of the lease, and the accelerated depreciation of leasehold improvements and certain furniture

and fixtures and equipment of approximately $2.1 million based on revised estimates of useful lives. The move is expected to

take place during the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
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I N V E N T O R I E S

Inventories at April 30 were as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Finished Goods $ 62,756 $ 46,353

Work-in-Process 6,845 4,481

Paper, Cloth, and Other 3,811 3,020

73,412 53,854

LIFO Reserve (3,613) (3,091)

Total $ 69,799 $ 50,763

P R O D U C T  D E V E L O P M E N T  A S S E T S

Product development assets consisted of the following at April 30:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Composition Costs $ 29,505 $ 24,975

Royalty Advances 33,550 16,216

Total $ 63,055 $ 41,191

Composition costs are net of accumulated amortization of $55,505 in 2002 and $52,593 in 2001.

P R O P E R T Y  A N D  E Q U I P M E N T

Property and equipment consisted of the following at April 30:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Land and Land Improvements $ 3,333 $ 3,333

Buildings and Leasehold Improvements 39,521 27,754

Furniture and Fixtures 37,355 31,752

Computer Equipment and Capitalized Software 74,873 58,104

155,082 120,943

Accumulated Depreciation (82,955) (68,688)

Total $ 72,127 $ 52,255

I N T A N G I B L E  A S S E T S

Intangible assets consisted of the following at April 30:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Goodwill $ 215,142 $ 116,466

Branded Trademarks 57,900 —

Acquired Publication Rights 274,890 239,603

Noncompete Agreements 1,257 890

Pension 4,142 —

553,331 356,959

Accumulated Amortization (84,795) (73,198)

Total $468,536 $ 283,761

O T H E R  A C C R U E D  L I A B I L I T I E S

Included in other accrued liabilities was accrued compensation of approximately $32.4 and $21.5 million at April 30, 2002,

and 2001, respectively, and accrued rent of $13.4 million at April 30, 2002, relating to vacated facilities.
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I N C O M E  T A X E S

The provision for income taxes at April 30 was as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Currently Payable

Federal $ 14,984 $ 16,606 $ 19,501

Foreign 7,045 10,789 6,181

State and local 1,322 354 2,618

Total Current Provision 23,351 27,749 28,300

Deferred Provision (Benefit)

Federal (2,436) (467) (4,353)

Foreign 1,983 1,858 4,561

State and Local 904 2,169 1,735

Total Deferred Provision 451 3,560 1,943

Total Provision $ 23,802 $ 31,309 $ 30,243

Included in the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows as cash provided by operating activities under the changes

in other assets and liabilities caption are tax benefits related to the exercise of stock options amounting to $8.0, $3.5, and

$3.7 million for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, which serve to reduce current income taxes payable. 

The Company’s effective income tax rate as a percent of pretax income differed from the U.S. federal statutory rate as shown below:

2002 2001 2000

U.S. Federal Statutory Rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and Local Income Taxes 
Net of Federal Income Tax Benefit 1.7 2.0 3.9

Tax Benefit Derived From FSC Income (3.0) (3.5) (3.6)

Foreign Source Earnings Taxed at Other Than U.S. Statutory Rate (4.9) .2 —

Amortization of Intangibles 2.0 1.8 2.0

Other — Net (1.5) (.8) (.7)

Effective Income Tax Rate 29.3% 34.7% 36.6%

Deferred taxes result from temporary differences in the recognition of revenue and expense for tax and financial reporting

purposes. The components of the provision for deferred taxes were as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Depreciation and Amortization $ (1,562) $ 404 $ (1,219)

Accrued Expenses (3,138) 3,803 (1,147)

Provision for Sales Returns and Doubtful Accounts 4,417 (3,039) (6,573)

Inventory 1,444 707 (561)

Retirement Benefits 882 (600) 752

Long-Term Liabilities (5,714) 1,000 67

Alternative Minimum Tax Credit and Other Carryforwards — — 492

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards 861 1,690 17,205

Valuation Allowance 3,271 (305) (5,683)

Other — Net (10) (100) (1,390)

Total Deferred Provision (Benefit) $ 451 $ 3,560 $ 1,943
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The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at April 30 were as follows:

2002 2001
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS CURRENT LONG-TERM CURRENT LONG-TERM

Deferred Tax Assets

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards $ — $ 1,875 $ — $ 2,736

Reserve for Sales Returns and Doubtful Accounts 28,324 388 15,220 —

Inventory 848 — — —

Accrued Expenses 5,222 — — —

Costs Capitalized for Taxes — 5,783 — 3,898

Retirement and Postemployment Benefits — 3,890 — 4,772

Amortization of Intangibles — 7,789 — 6,393

Total Deferred Tax Assets 34,394 19,725 15,220 17,799

Less: Valuation Allowance — (9,664) — (6,393)

Net Deferred Tax Assets 34,394 10,061 15,220 11,406

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Inventory — — (1,889) —

Depreciation and Amortization — (2,292) — (90)

Accrued Expenses — (9,681) — (12,158)

Long-Term Liabilities — (11,012) — (17,095)

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities — (22,985) (1,889) (29,343)

Net Deferred Tax Assets (Liabilities) $ 34,394 $(12,924) $13,331 $(17,937)

Current taxes payable for 2002 and 2001 have been reduced by $0.9 and $1.3 million, respectively, relating to the utilization

of net operating loss carryforwards. At April 30, 2002, the Company had aggregate unused net operating loss carryforwards of

approximately $3.6 million, which may be available to reduce future taxable income primarily in foreign tax jurisdictions and

generally have no expiration date. In general, the Company plans to continue to invest the undistributed earnings of its foreign

subsidiaries in those businesses, and therefore no provision is made for taxes that would be payable if such earnings were

distributed. At April 30, 2002, the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries approximated $56.7 million and, if remitted

currently, would result in additional taxes approximating $5.6 million.

N O T E S  P A Y A B L E  A N D  D E B T

Long-term debt consisted of the following at April 30:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Term Loan Notes Payable Due 

September 2006 $200,000 $ —

October 2002 through 2003 65,000 95,000

265,000 95,000

Less: Current Portion of Long-Term Debt (30,000) (30,000)

$235,000 $ 65,000

The weighted average interest rate on the term loans was 3.17% and 6.68% during 2002 and 2001, respectively; and 2.56%

and 5.24% at April 30, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

To finance the Hungry Minds acquisition, as well as to provide funds for general working capital and other needs, in fiscal 2002,

the Company obtained an additional $300 million bank credit facility with 13 banks consisting of a $200 million five-year term

loan facility to be repaid in September 2006. The Company has the option of borrowing at the following floating interest rates:

(i) at a rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus an applicable margin ranging from .625% to 1.375%

depending on the coverage ratio of debt to EBITDA; or (ii) at the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus .5% or (b) UBS’s

prime rate, plus an applicable margin ranging from 0% to .375% depending on the coverage ratio of debt to EBITDA. In addition,

the Company pays a commitment fee ranging from .125% to .225% on the unused portion of the facility depending on the

coverage ratio of debt to EBITDA. 
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The Company also has a $115 million credit agreement expiring on October 31, 2003, with eight banks. The credit agreement

consists of a term loan of $65 million and a $50 million revolving credit facility. The Company has the option of borrowing at the

following floating interest rates: (i) Eurodollars at a rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus an applicable

margin ranging from .15% to .30% depending on certain coverage ratios; or (ii) dollars at a rate based on the current certificate

of deposit rate, plus an applicable margin ranging from .275% to .425% depending on the coverage ratio of debt to EBITDA, or

(iii) dollars at the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus .5% and (b) the banks’ prime rate. In addition, the Company pays a

facility fee ranging from .10% to .20 % on the total facility depending on the coverage ratio of debt to EBITDA.

In the event of a change of control, as defined, the banks have the option to terminate the agreements and require repayment

of any amounts outstanding. Amounts outstanding under the term loans have mandatory repayments as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

$ 30,000 $ 35,000 — — $200,000

The credit agreements contain certain restrictive covenants related to minimum net worth, funded debt levels, an interest

coverage ratio, and restricted payments, including a cumulative limitation for dividends paid and share repurchases. Under the

most restrictive covenant, approximately $122 million was available for such restricted payments as of April 30, 2002.

The Company and its subsidiaries have other short-term lines of credit aggregating $30 million at various interest rates.

Information relating to all short-term lines of credit follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

End of Year

Amount outstanding $ — $ — $ —

Weighted average interest rate — — —

During the Year

Maximum amount outstanding $ 70,000 $ 48,445 $ 40,749

Average amount outstanding $ 14,137 $ 9,018 $ 15,654

Weighted average interest rate 2.9% 6.7% 5.6%

Based on estimates of interest rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms and maturities, the fair

value of notes payable and long-term debt approximates the carrying value.

C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

The following schedule shows the composition of rent expense for operating leases:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Minimum Rental $ 21,394 $ 14,948 $ 14,614

Lease Escalation 3,069 2,484 2,352 

Less: Sublease Rentals (303) — —

Total $ 24,160 $ 17,432 $ 16,966

Future minimum payments under operating leases aggregated $271.0 million at April 30, 2002. Annual payments under these

leases are $34.5, $22.5, $21.9, $21.6, and $20.9 million for fiscal years 2003 through 2007, respectively. The Company has

also entered into an agreement to purchase an office building in the U.K. upon completion of construction in fiscal year 2003

for approximately $13.3 million.

The Company is involved in routine litigation in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of management, the

ultimate resolution of all pending litigation will not have a material effect upon the financial condition or results of operations

of the Company.
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R E T I R E M E N T  P L A N S

The Company and its principal subsidiaries have contributory and noncontributory retirement plans that cover substantially

all employees. The plans generally provide for employee retirement between the ages of 60 and 65, and benefits based on

length of service and final average compensation, as defined.

The Company has agreements with certain officers and senior management personnel that provide for the payment of

supplemental retirement benefits during each of the 10 years after the termination of employment. Under certain circumstances,

including a change of control as defined, the payment of such amounts could be accelerated on a present value basis.

The Company provides life insurance and health care benefits, subject to certain dollar limitations and retiree contributions,

for substantially all of its retired domestic employees. The cost of such benefits is expensed over the years that the employees

render service and is funded on a pay-as-you-go, cash basis. The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation amounted to

$1.0 million at April 30, 2002, and 2001, and the amount expensed in 2002 and prior years was not material.

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) savings plan. The Company contribution is based on employee contributions

and the level of Company match. The expense for this plan amounted to approximately $1.9, $1.7, and $1.5 million in 2002,

2001, and 2000, respectively.

The components of net pension expense for the defined benefit plans were as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Service Cost $ 6,174 $ 5,263 $ 5,535

Interest Cost 8,044 7,426 7,034

Expected Return on Plan Assets (6,987) (7,351) (7,321)

Net Amortization of Prior Service Cost 511 473 470

Net Amortization of Unrecognized Transition Asset (213) (819) (843)

Recognized Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss 363 47 (166)

Net Pension Expense $ 7,892 $ 5,039 $ 4,709

In fiscal 2002, the domestic plan was amended to provide that final average compensation be based on the highest three

consecutive years ended December 31, 1997, or, if employed after that date, the first three consecutive years after that date.

The impact on pension expense was not material. The Company may, but is not required to, update from time to time the ending

date for the three-year period used to determine final average compensation. The net pension expense included above for the

international plans amounted to approximately $3.8, $2.9, and $2.9 million for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the changes in and the status of the plans’ assets and benefit obligations. 

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001

Plan Assets

Fair Value, Beginning of Year $ 86,484 $ 93,779

Actual Return on Plan Assets (3,323) (3,671)

Employer Contributions 3,623 3,591

Participants’ Contributions — —

Benefits Paid (4,482) (4,125)

Foreign Currency Rate Changes 238 (3,090)

Fair Value, end of year $ 82,540 $ 86,484

Benefit Obligation

Balance, Beginning of Year $(112,967) $(106,350)

Service Cost (6,174) (5,263)

Interest Cost (8,044) (7,426)

Amendments (2,399) —

Actuarial Gain (Loss) 1,838 (1,400)

Benefits Paid 4,482 4,125

Foreign Currency Rate Changes (33) 3,347

Balance, End of Year $(123,297) $(112,967)

Funded Status — Deficit (40,757) (26,483)

Unrecognized Net Transition Asset (93) (305)

Unrecognized Net Actuarial Loss 12,354 4,484

Unrecognized Prior Service Cost 4,987 3,266

Net Accrued Pension Cost $ (23,509) $ (19,038)

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of:

Deferred Pension Asset $ 518 $ 2,431

Accrued Pension Liability (28,169) (21,469)

Intangible Asset 4,142 —

Net Amount Recognized $ (23,509) $ (19,038)

The Weighted Average Assumptions Used in Determining These Amounts Were as Follows:

Discount Rate 7.1% 7.1%

Expected Return on Plan Assets 7.9% 8.0%

Rate of Compensation Increase 3.1% 3.0%

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the retirement plans with

accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $119,281, $105,953, and $78,088, respectively, as of April 30,

2002, and $25,113, $21,754, and $0 respectively, as of April 30, 2001.
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E Q U I T Y  C O M P E N S A T I O N  P L A N S

A summary of all equity compensation plans follows:

(C) NUMBER OF SECURITIES 
(A) NUMBER OF SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR FUTURE ISSUANCE

TO BE ISSUED UPON EXERCISE (B) WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXERCISE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
EQUITY COMPENSATION OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, PRICE OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, (EXCLUDING SECURITIES REFLECTED
PLAN CATEGORY WARRANTS, AND RIGHTS WARRANTS, AND RIGHTS IN COLUMN (A)

Approved by Security Holders 4,599,704 $14.44 6,487,757

Not Approved by Security Holders None n/a None

Total 4,599,704 $14.44 6,487,757

Under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan, qualified employees are eligible to receive awards that may include stock

options, performance stock awards, and restricted stock awards subject to an overall maximum of 8,000,000 shares and up

to a maximum per year of 600,000 shares of Class A stock to any one individual. 

The exercise price of options granted under the plan may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the stock at the

date of grant. Options are exercisable, in part or in full, over a maximum period of 10 years from the date of grant, and generally

vest within five years from the date of the grant. Under certain circumstances relating to a change of control, as defined, the

right to exercise options outstanding could be accelerated.

The Company elected to apply the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

Accordingly, no compensation cost is recognized for fixed stock option grants. Had compensation cost been recognized, net

income would have been reduced on a pro forma basis by $2.9 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, in 2002; $2.2 million, or

$0.04 per diluted share, in 2001; and $1.7 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, in 2000. For the pro forma calculations, the fair

value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following

assumptions for 2002, 2001, and 2000: risk-free interest rate of 5.2%, 6.2%, and 6.3%, respectively; dividend yield of 0.9%,

0.9%, and 1.0%, respectively; volatility of 33.6%, 28.1%, and 25.7%, respectively; and expected life of 7 to 9 years.

A summary of the activity and status of the Company’s stock option plans follows:

2002 2001 2000
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED
AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE

OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE

Outstanding at Beginning of Year 5,080,703 $ 11.21 4,837,693 $ 8.88 4,820,884 $ 7.04 

Granted 656,143 $ 23.15 663,000 $ 23.28 517,800 $ 20.47

Exercised (1,131,142) $ 4.95 (414,790) $ 3.18 (476,591) $ 2.74

Canceled (6,000) $ 17.91 (5,200) $22.00 (24,400) $ 12.28

Outstanding at End of Year 4,599,704 $ 14.44 5,080,703 $ 11.21 4,837,693 $ 8.88

Exercisable at End of Year 2,021,876 $ 8.05 2,408,257 $ 5.81 2,245,837 $ 4.66

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $10.19, $9.76, and $8.69 in 2002, 2001, and 2000,

respectively.
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A summary of information about stock options outstanding and options exercisable at April 30, 2002, follows:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

Weighted Average Weighted Average Weighted Average
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES Number of Options Remaining Term Exercise Price Number of Options Exercise Price

$ 2.94 to $ 5.17 607,623 1.7 years $ 4.35 607,623 $ 4.35

$ 6.56 to $ 8.63 1,227,902 4.4 years $ 7.99 1,046,974 $ 7.89

$13.75 to $ 14.59 943,436 6.1 years $ 13.88 329,936 $ 13.99

$17.25 to $20.56 597,943 7.5 years $20.36 28,343 $ 19.68

$22.00 to $23.56 1,222,800 8.6 years $23.48 9,000 $ 23.49

Total 4,599,704 5.9 years $ 14.44 2,021,876 $ 8.05

Under the terms of the Company’s executive long-term incentive plans, upon the achievement of certain three-year financial

performance-based targets, awards will be payable in restricted shares of the Company’s Class A Common stock. The restricted

shares vest equally as to 50% on the first and second anniversary date after the award is earned. Compensation expense is

charged to earnings over the respective three-year period. In addition, the Company granted restricted shares of the Company’s

Class A Common stock to key executive officers and others in connection with their employment. The restricted shares generally

vest one-third at the end of the third, fourth, and fifth years following the date of the grant. Under certain circumstances relating

to a change of control or termination, as defined, the restrictions would lapse and shares would vest earlier. Compensation

expense is charged to earnings ratably over five years, or sooner, if vesting is accelerated, from the dates of grant. Restricted

shares issued in connection with the above plans amounted to 12,000, 103,762, and 40,869 shares at weighted average fair

values of $23.92, $19.98, and $18.26 per share in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Compensation expense is charged to

earnings for the above amounted to $3.4, $2.9, and $2.6 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000 respectively.

Under the terms of the Company’s Director Stock Plan, each member of the Board of Directors who is not an employee of the

Company is awarded either (a) Class A Common stock equal to 50% of the board member’s annual cash compensation, based

on the stock price on the date of grant, or (b) stock options equal to 150% of the annual cash compensation divided by the

stock price on the date of grant. Directors’ stock options are 100% exercisable at date of grant. Directors may also elect to

receive all or a portion of their cash compensation in stock. Under this plan 1,729, 7,680, and 14,172 shares were issued in

2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. In addition, 24,343 stock options were granted in fiscal 2002 at an exercise price of

$19.54. Compensation expense related to this plan amounted to approximately $.3, $.5, and $.4 million in 2002, 2001, and

2000, respectively.

C A P I T A L  S T O C K  A N D  C H A N G E S  I N  C A P I T A L  A C C O U N T S

Preferred stock consists of 2 million authorized shares with $1 par value. To date, no preferred shares have been issued.

Common stock consists of 180 million authorized shares of Class A Common, $1 par value, and 72 million authorized shares

of Class B Common, $1 par value. 

Each share of the Company’s Class B Common stock is convertible into one share of Class A Common stock. The holders of

Class A stock are entitled to elect 30% of the entire Board of Directors and the holders of Class B stock are entitled to elect the

remainder. On all other matters, each share of Class A stock is entitled to one-tenth of one vote and each share of Class B

stock is entitled to one vote.

Under the Company’s current stock repurchase program, up to 4 million shares of its Class A common stock may be purchased

from time to time in the open market and through privately negotiated transactions. Through April 30, 2002, the Company

repurchased 2,751,850 shares at an average price of $16.80 per share for a total cost of approximately $46.2 million under

the program. 
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Changes in selected capital accounts were as follows:
ADDITIONAL

COMMON STOCK
PAID-IN TREASURY

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS Class A Class B CAPITAL STOCK

Balance at May 1, 1999 $ 67,548 $ 15,642 $ 13,045 $ (85,142)

Director Stock Plan Issuance 192 68

Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan Issuance (188) (6)

Purchase of Treasury Shares (32,144)

Restricted Share Issuance (48) 120

Issuance of Shares Under Employee Savings Plan 368 139

Exercise of Stock Options 809 (860)

Other 344 (343)

Balance at May 1, 2000 $ 67,892 $ 15,299 $ 14,178 $ (117,825)

Director Stock Plan Issuance 79 26

Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan Issuance 542 272

Purchase of Treasury Shares (6,890)

Restricted Share Issuance 986 (284)

Issuance of Shares Under Employee Savings Plan 361 127

Exercise of Stock Options 2,754 (352)

Other 145 (146)

Balance at May 1, 2001 $ 68,037 $ 15,153 $ 18,900 $(124,926)

Director Stock Plan Issuance 29 10

Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan Issuance 323 102

Purchase of Treasury Shares (1,880)

Restricted Share Issuance 296 68

Issuance of Shares Under Employee Savings Plan 502 166

Exercise of Stock Options 6,788 3,126

Other 30 (29)

Balance at April 30, 2002 $ 68,067 $ 15,124 $ 26,838 $(123,334)
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S E G M E N T  I N F O R M A T I O N

The Company is a global publisher of print and electronic products, providing must-have content and services to customers

worldwide. Core businesses include professional and consumer books and subscription services; scientific, technical, and

medical journals, encyclopedias, books, and online products and services; and educational materials for undergraduate and

graduate students and lifelong learners. The Company has publishing, marketing, and distribution centers in the United States,

Canada, Europe, Asia, and Australia. The Company’s reportable segments are based on the management reporting structure

used to evaluate performance. Segment information is as follows:

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002

EUROPEAN OTHER ELIMINATIONS &
DOMESTIC SEGMENTS SEGMENT SEGMENTS CORPORATE ITEMS TOTAL

Scientific,
Professional/ Technical, Higher Total

Trade and Medical Education Domestic

Revenues

External Customers $ 238,060 $ 157,503 $ 119,833 $ 515,396 $ 151,442 $ 67,558 $ — $734,396

Intersegment Sales 15,012 7,427 21,463 43,902 12,662 760 (57,324) —

Total Revenues $ 253,072 $164,930 $141,296 $559,298 $164,104 $68,318 $ (57,324) $734,396

Direct Contribution
to Profit $ 62,141 $67,692 $44,272 $174,105 $54,613 $15,199 — $243,917

Shared Services 
and  Admin. Costs (143,842)

Unusual Item 
Relocation Related Expenses (12,312)

Operating Income 87,763

Interest Expense — Net (6,645)

Income Before Taxes $ 81,118

Assets $ 397,054 $ 55,787 $ 103,496 $ 556,337 $ 198,432 $ 30,334 $ 111,042 $ 896,145

Goodwill Acquired $ 90,656 — — $ 90,656 $ 11,646 $ 1,596 — $103,898

Expenditures for Other 
Long-Lived Assets $ 122,090 $ 7,581 $ 25,458 $ 155,129 $ 34,196 $ 3,112 $ 17,740 $ 210,177

Depreciation 
and Amortization $ 19,096 $ 5,955 $ 11,330 $ 36,381 $ 11,922 $ 2,051 $ 8,968 $ 59,322

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2001

EUROPEAN OTHER ELIMINATIONS &
DOMESTIC SEGMENTS SEGMENT SEGMENTS CORPORATE ITEMS TOTAL

Scientific,
Professional/ Technical, Higher Total

Trade and Medical Education Domestic

Revenues

External Customers $146,480 $ 148,452 $112,863 $ 407,795 $ 142,798 $ 63,197 $ — $ 613,790

Intersegment Sales 15,623 7,667 20,218 43,508 12,488 1,133 (57,129) —

Total Revenues $ 162,103 $156,119 $133,081 $ 451,303 $155,286 $ 64,330 $ (57,129) $ 613,790

Direct Contribution
to Profit $ 35,553 $ 71,475 $ 41,872 $ 148,900 $ 50,122 $ 14,730 — $ 213,752

Shared Services 
and Admin. Costs (118,328)

Operating Income 95,424

Interest Expense — Net (5,197)

Income Before Taxes $ 90,227

Assets $ 172,364 $ 56,801 $ 84,462 $ 313,627 $ 157,436 $ 19,521 $ 97,418 $588,002

Goodwill Acquired — $ 2,417 — $ 2,417 — — — $ 2,417

Expenditures for 
Long-Lived Assets $ 17,841 $ 11,013 $ 8,108 $ 36,962 $ 13,005 $2,751 $ 19,736 $ 72,454

Depreciation 
and Amortization $ 15,256 $ 7,305 $ 10,216 $ 32,777 $ 11,868 $1,976 $ 7,260 $ 53,881
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DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2000

EUROPEAN OTHER ELIMINATIONS &
DOMESTIC SEGMENTS SEGMENT SEGMENTS CORPORATE ITEMS TOTAL

Scientific,
Professional/ Technical, Higher Total

Trade and Medical Education Domestic

Revenues

External Customers $ 146,571 $ 143,329 $110,755 $400,655 $143,046 $ 62,323 $ — $606,024

Intersegment Sales 16,065 7,115 18,366 41,546 10,869 743 (53,158) $ —

Total Revenues $ 162,636 $150,444 $ 129,121 $ 442,201 $ 153,915 $ 63,066 $ (53,158) $606,024

Direct Contribution
to Profit $ 39,330 $ 63,754 $ 37,585 $ 140,669 $ 47,914 $ 13,269 — $ 201,852

Shared Services 
and Admin. Costs (112,848)

Operating Income 89,004

Interest Expense — Net (6,373)

Income Before Taxes $ 82,631

Assets $ 179,590 $ 52,896 $ 89,101 $ 321,587 $ 152,603 $ 20,954 $ 74,193 $ 569,337

Goodwill Acquired $ 61,618 — — $ 61,618 $ 800 — — $ 62,418

Expenditures for 
Other Long-Lived Assets $ 41,087 $ 6,381 $ 65,834 $ 113,302 $ 6,605 $ 2,867 $ 8,876 $ 131,650

Depreciation 
and Amortization $ 14,858 $ 8,708 $ 10,769 $ 34,335 $ 11,663 $ 1,905 $ 5,266 $ 53,169

Fiscal 2002 direct contribution to profit for the domestic scientific, technical, and medical segment includes a charge to

earnings of $5 million representing a write-off of two small investments in an environmental remediation portal and database

and an entrepreneurial informatics company. Intersegment sales are generally made at a fixed discount from list price.

Shared services and administrative costs include costs for such services as information technology, distribution, occupancy,

human resources, finance, and administration. These costs are not allocated, as they support the Company’s worldwide

operations. Corporate assets primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax benefits, and certain property and

equipment. Export sales from the United States to unaffiliated international customers amounted to approximately $74.3,

$66.0, and $62.1 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The pretax income for consolidated international operations

was approximately $28.4, $30.0, and $25.5 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. 

Worldwide revenues for the Company’s core businesses were as follows:

REVENUES

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2002 2001 2000

Professional/Trade $292,054 $ 196,787 $ 197,790

Scientific, Technical, and Medical 276,510 259,094 253,683

Higher Education 165,832 157,909 154,551

Total $734,396 $ 613,790 $606,024

Revenues from external customers based on the location of the customer, and long-lived assets by geographic area were as

follows:

REVENUES LONG-LIVED ASSETS

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Domestic $ 473,145 $ 364,559 $ 357,365 $ 446,103 $260,034 $ 257,041

International

United Kingdom 35,427 33,403 32,269 39,218 19,783 14,426

Germany 34,818 32,411 33,862 126,786 110,751 113,293

Other countries 191,006 183,417 182,528 7,428 4,519 4,071

Total International 261,251 249,231 248,659 173,432 135,053 131,790

Total $734,396 $ 613,790 $606,024 $ 619,535 $395,087 $ 388,831



REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

T O  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S  O F  J O H N  W I L E Y  &  S O N S ,  I N C . :  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and subsidiaries as

of April 30, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income and retained earnings, comprehensive income, and cash

flows for the year then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and subsidiaries as of April 30, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

KPMG LLP
New York, New York

June 5, 2002

The following report of Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersen”) is a copy of the original report dated June 5, 2001, rendered on the prior years’ financial statements.
The SEC has recently provided regulatory relief designed to allow public companies to dispense with the requirement that they file a re-issued report of Andersen
in certain circumstances. After reasonable efforts, we have not been able to obtain a re-issued report from Andersen, and accordingly, should you wish to pursue
claims against Andersen in connection with those financial statements, your ability to seek remedies and obtain relief against Andersen may be impaired.

T O  T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S  O F  J O H N  W I L E Y  &  S O N S ,  I N C . :

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (a New York

corporation), and subsidiaries as of April 30, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income and retained

earnings, comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended April 30, 2001. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-

cial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-

able basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of John

Wiley & Sons, Inc., and subsidiaries as of April 30, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the two years in the period ended April 30, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
New York, New York

June 5, 2001
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S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30 

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Revenues $734,396 $ 613,790 $606,024 $ 519,164 $ 478,075

Operating Income 87,763(a) 95,424 89,004 63,654 40,864 

Gain on Sale of Publishing Assets — — — — 21,292

Net Income 57,316(a) 58,918 52,388 39,709 36,588(b)

Working Capital (45,134)(c) (57,226)(c) (76,939)(c) 60,870 59,257

Total Assets 896,145 588,002 569,337 528,552 506,914

Long-Term Debt 235,000 65,000 95,000 125,000 125,000

Shareholders’ Equity 276,650 220,023 172,738 162,212 160,751

Per Share Data

Income Per Share

Diluted .91(a) .93 .81 .60 .55(b)

Basic .94(a) .97 .85 .63 .58(b)

Cash Dividends

Class A Common .18 .16 .14 .13 .11

Class B Common .18 .16 .13 .11 .10

Book Value — End of Year 4.48 3.62 2.85 2.60 2.51

(a) Fiscal 2002 includes an unusual charge to earnings amounting to approximately $12,312, or $7,683 after tax, equal to $0.12 per diluted share ($0.13 per basic

share) relating to the relocation of the Company’s headquarters, and includes lease payments on the vacated premises and the accelerated depreciation of leasehold

improvements and certain furniture and fixtures and equipment based on revised estimates of useful lives.

(b) Fiscal 1998 includes unusual items amounting to $9,713 after tax, equal to $0.14 per diluted share ($0.15 per basic share) relating to the gain on the sale of the

domestic law publishing program, net of a write-down of certain intangible assets and other items. Excluding the unusual items, net income would have been

$26,875, or $0.41 per diluted share and $0.43 per basic share.

(c) Working capital is negative as a result of including in current liabilities the deferred subscription revenues related to journal subscriptions for which the cash has

been received and which will be recognized into income as the journals are shipped or made available online to the customer, or over the term of the subscription as

services are rendered.
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R E S U L T S  B Y  Q U A R T E R  ( U N A U D I T E D )

JOHN WILEY & SONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2002 2001

Revenues

First Quarter $ 161,044 $ 153,928

Second Quarter 176,201 160,561

Third Quarter 207,981 163,798

Fourth Quarter 189,170 135,503

Fiscal Year $734,396 $ 613,790

Operating Income

First Quarter $ 30,537 $ 27,943

Second Quarter 28,913 28,305

Third Quarter 34,716 28,696

Fourth Quarter (6,403)(a) 10,480

Fiscal Year $ 87,763(a) $ 95,424

Net Income

First Quarter $ 19,541 $ 16,474

Second Quarter 17,914 16,945

Third Quarter 21,352 17,281

Fourth Quarter (1,491)(a) 8,218

Fiscal Year $ 57,316(a) $ 58,918

Income Per Share DILUTED BASIC DILUTED BASIC

First Quarter $ .31 $ .32 $ .26 $ .27

Second Quarter .28 .29 .27 .28

Third Quarter .34 .35 .27 .28

Fourth Quarter (.02)(a) (.02)(a) .13 .14

Fiscal Year .91(a) .94(a) .93 .97

(a) Fiscal 2002 includes an unusual charge to earnings amounting to approximately $12,312, or $7,683 after tax, equal to $0.12 per diluted share ($0.13 per basic

share) relating to the relocation of the Company’s headquarters and includes lease payments on the vacated premises and the accelerated depreciation of leasehold

improvements and certain furniture and fixtures and equipment based on revised estimates of useful lives.
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Q U A R T E R L Y  S H A R E  P R I C E S ,  D I V I D E N D S ,  A N D  R E L A T E D  S T O C K H O L D E R  M A T T E R S

The Company’s Class A and Class B shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols JWa and JWb,

respectively. Dividends per share and the market price range by fiscal quarter for the past two fiscal years were as follows:

CLASS A COMMON STOCK CLASS B COMMON STOCK

Market Price Market Price

Dividends High Low Dividends High Low

2002

First Quarter $ .05 $23.68 $18.95 $ .05 $23.65 $19.00

Second Quarter .05 22.59 19.54 .05 22.60 19.45

Third Quarter .05 24.10 20.00 .05 23.90 19.95

Fourth Quarter .05 27.46 22.26 .05 27.45 22.40

2001

First Quarter $ .04 $25.69 $17.56 $ .04 $25.50 $ 17.44

Second Quarter .04 23.25 19.88 .04 23.21 19.88

Third Quarter .04 22.50 18.75 .04 22.00 19.00

Fourth Quarter .04 21.47 18.15 .04 21.45 18.25

As of April 30, 2002, the approximate number of holders of the Company’s Class A and Class B Common Stock were 1,220 and

164, respectively, based on the holders of record and other information available to the Company.

The Company’s credit agreement contains certain restrictive covenants related to the payment of dividends and share repur-

chases. Under the most restrictive covenant, approximately $122 million was available for such restricted payments. Subject

to the foregoing, the Board of Directors considers quarterly the payment of cash dividends based upon its review of earnings,

the financial position of the Company, and other relevant factors.
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WILEY BOARD OF DIRECTORS ELECTS NEW CHAIRMAN

In May 2002, Bradford Wiley II announced his intention 

to retire as Chairman of the Board of Directors effective

September 19, 2002. Brad Wiley will continue as a Director

of the Company. A member of the sixth generation of the

Wiley family to participate in the firm, Brad Wiley has been

a member of the Board since 1979 and was elected

Chairman in December 1992. His service as Chairman has

been distinguished by his focus on effective and account-

able corporate governance.

Based on the recommendation of its Governance and

Compensation Committee, the Board unanimously elected

Peter Booth Wiley to succeed Brad Wiley as Chairman. 

A journalist and author, Peter Wiley has written numerous

articles and several books, mostly recently National Trust

Guide/San Francisco: America’s Guide for Architecture and

History Travelers. He has been a member of the Company’s

Board of Directors since 1984.

(TOP PHOTO) Peter Booth Wiley, Brad Wiley II
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